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Main Street in Salisbury, a northwestern Connecticut town of 3,600 that
was Incorporated in 1741, is a wide north-south thoroughfare lined with
gracious shade trees. One of the amply-spaced buildings along the street,
at the southeast corner of Library Street, is the Scoville Memorial Library,
designed in 1894 by Stone, Carpenter and Willson of Providence, Rhode Island.
The library's well-maintained three-acre site slopes off to the south and

west toward Wachocastinook Creek, known locally as Library Brook, that runs
across the southern part of the plot.

The library building is a 35 by 129~foot rectangular structure of grey,
rough-faced, random ashlar limestone, quarried locally, consisting of two
asymmetric, gable-roofed wings disposed on either side of a eentral 55=foot-
tall,square battlemented clock tower (Photograph 1), There is a 25 by 26-
foot wing to the rear that houses the library stacks. The broad roofs are
covered with slate. The round-arched entrance, right of the tower, is ap-
proached by six stone steps and is surmounted by a stepped gable with a stone
plaque affixed to the gable end in which 1s incised the library's name and
the year date MDCCCXCIV. A second, flat-pointed gable breaks the overhanging
slightly flared, eaves further to the south. This gable has a large window
with segmental arch that is tripartite both horizontally and vertically,
Vertically oblong windows with deep reveals alternate with the gables to com-
plete the fenestration of this wing. The southern elevation is apsidal.

The tower has apertures at four levels (Photograph 2). At the top on
each surface, small, square openings flank the clock face over a group of
three tall round-arched windows that have open louvers to permit passage of
the sound of the bells. Two larger, round-arched windows are at the level of
the entrance plaque, and two segmentally-arched windows are at first floor
level. The upper halves of these four windows are glazed with diagonal
muntins,

The front walls of the south wing and of the tower are in one plane,
while the front wall of the north wing is set back (see sketch map), and the
ridge line of the roof is lower, There is a group of three rectangular win-
dows in the front wall of this wing, and an exterior chimney, flanked by
windows at its north end wall (Photograph 3).

The stacks wing projects to the east, behind the tower (Photograph lL).
Its north and south walls have two bands of three rectangular windows over
segmentally arched windows at basement level. There is a skylight in the
roof, The east end is apsidal, corresponding to the shape of the south end
of the south wing. In the stacks apse the oblique wall sections have single
large, round-headed windows. The lines at which the wasll planes meet is not
formed by the junction of separate pieces of stone. Instead, the individual
pieces of stone are cut at the angle and chiselled vertically to create the

desired corner effect (Photograph 5).

The front entrance leads to a vestibule and then to a central hall that
runs back the depth of the building. The doorway between the vestibule and
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“the hall has a round-arched tympanum with an elaborately carved, openwork
screen of shell, rosettes, volutes, and finials, The floor of the hall is
composed of red tile tesserae with a Greek key border in black tesserae, %
On the north wall of the hall there is a plaque reading "The Scoville Memo- i
rial Library founded 1891 by a bequest of Jonathan Scoville subsequently en- |
dowed and enlarged by the family of Nathaniel Church Scoville and dedicated

to the citizens of Salisbury in memory of Jonathan and Nathaniel Church ;
Scoville 1902." |

The stairway to the tower rises at the back of the hall in two runs with
arcaded balustrade over panelled walls (Photograph 6). To the left of the
stairs there is another round-arched opening with tympanum similar to, but
not as elaborate as, that over the front doors. The stacks are located to the
right of this opening, the bottom of the tower to the left, and the children's|.
room ahead in the north wing. The room at the base of the tower is finished
with fluted pilasters supporting a plain entablature above which rise further
pilasters embellished with a raised, tapered design to a molded cornice with
dentil course (Photograph 7). : T

The four tonal bells and the large striker bell (Photograph 8) for the
hour are located at the level of the tower behind the tall, louvered windows.
The bells were cast by the Maneely Bell Company of Troy, New York, the large
one with raised lettering reading, "Jonathsn Scoville Nathaniel Church '
Scoville in memoriam 1894." The clock, made by the E. Howard Watch and Clock
Company of Boston, is at the top of the tower and has driving rods to each
wall to turn the hands of the clock faces on the exterior. The original,
framed "Directions for the Care of a Tower (Clock" hang on one wall. The ori-
ginal weights are on the floor, as the clock is now electrically powered.

_ The largest space in the library is that contained in the south wing.
Originally an auditorium, it was altered in 1964 with a dropped ceiling to
become a reading room. Two large, square windows were installed in the west |
wall, one of which is visible in Photograph L, to improve the lighting. An ‘
office was constructed for the librarian over the former stage at the south
end of the room. The library's circulation desk is located at the north end
of this reading room, facing the central hall,

The full basement has a high ceiling and stone partitions as well as
stone exterior walls. Brick piers with bric ches are used to help support
- the massive 8 by 8 inch timbers of the framin; e . A S

T e T
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Scoville Memorial Library possesses high artistic value because of
its well conceived Romanesque Revival design and the high quality of its
masonry (Criterion C). The present Library Association is associated, by
virtue of being the successor organization, with an earlier library that has

a strong claim to having been the first tax-supported library in the United
States (Criterion a).

Three disparate influences that had developed over a period of years
came together in a timely fashion to form the Scoville Memorial Library.
The first of these was the town's library tradition, going back to 1771,
which was re-invigorated in the 1880's by the formation of a Library Associ-
ation. A library building was needed. This need was duly noted by Jonathan
Scoville, a native son, who over his lifetime amassed a substantial fortune
and who provided by his will for construction of the building after his
death in 1890. With the need established and the money in hand, the archi-
tect, Edmund R. Willson became the third essential Ingredient in the creation
of the Scoville Memorial Library by providing an outstanding design in the
Romanesque Revival style toward the end of the period of popularity of that
style as it had been developed by Richardson and others in prior decades.,

The plan, massing, and style of the Scoville Memorial Library have a
strong similarity to the earlier Massachusetts libraries of H. H. Richardson,
a leading American architect. The Winn Memorial Library at woburn, 1877,
Richardson's first, had all the elements of central tower with entrance to
the right, wings to left and right, gable rcof, and small projection to the
rear found at Salisbury. The Ames Memorial Library at North Easton, designed
by Richardson later the same year, has a round-headed entrance far more prom=-
inent than that at Salisbury and embellished with an ornamental design of the
type further developed and used repeatedly by Louis Sullivan, as at his Audi-
torium building in Chicago, 1889. Richardson's Crane Memorial Library,
Quincy, 1880, on the right of a wide, heavy arched opening, has a multi-
sectioned window quite similar to that on the right of the round-headed en-
trance of Scoville Memorial Library. Richardson's first sketch for the
Burlington, Vermont, library, 1883, had an apsidal end for the wing on the
right of the entrance. Hartford's George Keller in his Ansonia, Connecticut,
library, 1891, combined & round-arched entrance with a square clock tower and
two gable-roofed wings, although the wings were at right angles to one
another,

Stone, Carpenter and Willson designed for Salisbury a library building
quite similar to those already existing elsewhere, but with an important
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difference. VWhile all the earlier libraries in this mode had used a combina-
tion of earth hues in brownstone, buff colored stone, and terra cotta, Salis-
bury is executed in a chaste, grey monochrome. Where Richardson used poly-
chromy, as in alternating colors for arch voussoirs, Salisbury is grey.

where Keller used redsandstone for a water table, 3alisbury is grey. The
earth tcnes and the robust polychrome of the predecessor buildings have given
way in Salisbury to a chaste monochrome. The quarry faced masonry is physi-
cally the same, the ashlar equally well done, the molded water table, large
voussoirs, and massive lintels and sills are 8ll present, but made less vig-
orous by their monochrome cclor.

Stone, Carpenter and Willson designed no other rcugh stcne building with
medieval overtones, sc¢ far as is known, except one. The cne exception is the
Petersham Memorial Library of Petersham, Massachusetts (northwest of wor-
cester) of 1889 (Photograph 9). In this earlier library, Willson was the
partner in charge. His grandfather had been the first Unitarian minister in
Petersham. The Petersham structure clearly is the forerunner of the Scoville
Memorial Library. MNany elements of the two designs are similar, including
the rough stone ccnstruction with slate gable rocf and slightly flared eaves,
the general plan, the tower off center to the left with entrance to its right
the two tall gabled dormers on the right that break through the eaves, and th
apsidal end at the right. Cne wing of the Petersham Library was devoted to
an auditcrium fcr public events, as was the case at Salisbury. The windows
in the gabled dcrmers in both cases are multi-sectioned. Different stone was
used, field stcne random rubble at Petersham, more expensive sandstone ashlar
at Salisbury. while the tower at Petersham is octagonal with a tent roof, at
Salisbury the tower is square and larger, with a castellated roofline. While
the dormers at Petersham have Gothic arches in keeping with the pointed roof
of the tower, at Salisbury the dormers have stepped gables in keeping with
the parapet of the tower. At Salisbury the chimney to the right and small
gables to the left, that appeared at Petersham, are omitted, thereby simpli-
fying the design. Scoville lemorial Library is a more sophisticated and ur-
bane design, reflecting the contemporary trend toward classical simplicity.

There was a competition for the Scoville Memorial Library, that Stone,
Carpenter and Willson won. Details of the competition are not known but its
existence is established by the library's records. There 1s a receipt dated
September 12, 1893 reading, "Received of 3coville Memorial Library Associa-
tion 525 awarded for 2nd best design in competition for Library Building,"
signed, Martin & Hall, Providence, Another entry, in a summary tabulation
of expenditures dated March 30, 1895, reads, "Architects, competing designs
and commission 3550." Unfortunately, there are nc further details on how the
competiticn was conducted and what other architects participated.
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Stone, Carpenter and Willson were the leading firm in Providence of
their day, carrying on a prolific practice. Generally, they built in brick
with granite, sandstone, cor terra cotta trim, not the quarry-faced stone of
the Scoville Memorial Library. Numbered among their works are the County
Court House, Provident Institute for 3avings, Central Police Station and
District Court, and the New York, New Haven & Hartfcrd R. 3. Station. Like
other firms of the Victorian era, they were adept at working in several
styles, including Romanesque Revival and Tudor Revival as well as Eeaux-Arts
Neo-Classic, but none of these buildings resembles the Scoville Memorial
Library. They designed the State Prison in Cranston, Rhode Island, 1378, in
stone, but it is a dull, dark building, unlike the Salisbury library. Their
Lyman Gymnasium et Brown University resembles Aichardson's Crane Memorial
Library at juincy in profile, but is constructed of trick and granite.

One cf the buildings for which Stone, Carpenter and willson is best
known is the Prcvidence Public Library of 1598-1900, Edmund R. Willson, part-
ner in charge. According tc Cady, whose boock is the standard source_on
Providence architecture, it was the firm's "outstanding achievement"! but it
did not resemtle the 3Salisbury library, although it was ccmmissioned in the
same year., The Prcvidence library is an oblong, hipped roof structure in the

~

.\\\
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Renaissance Revival style bulilt of rusticated limestone and yellow brick,

Edmund R, Willson was the partner in charge of the Salisbury library;
correspondence to and from him is in the library's archives. His letter of
October 7, 1893, addressed to Donald T. Warner, Chairman of the Scoville
Memorial Library Association, gives insight into the firm's method of cal=~
culating its fees., Willson wrote, "Could you put us in the way of getting
some money on account of the work done for the Scoville Memorial Library As-
sociation? You may remember ocur compensation was to be, for all of the work
except superintending, 3% per cent on the cost of the building. At present,
we have done all the work except full sized details, which will be required
as the building is in process of construction. This is ordinarily reckoned
at one per cent, leaving 2% for the scale plans and specifications, which is
the work we have already done; so we think that there should be due us 2k%
on $16,000,, or $400." The records show that $375 was paid two months later,
and that by the end of the job total architects fees came to $647.83.

The Scoville Memorial Library Association is the successor organization
to two earlier Salisbury libraries. The first of these was founded by
Richard Smith who used funds provided by 39 other citizens and himself to
bring 200 books from London to Salisbury to establish the Smith Library in
1771. The original record book is at the Scoville Memorial Library. Smith
was a Tory and returned to England at the time of the Revolutionary War, but
his library continued for some years. On April 11, 1827 the Smith Library
Company voted to establish a public library open to any citizen upon paying
the annual subscription fee of $3.34.%

In 1803 Caleb Bingham, a native of Salisbury who had moved to Boston
where he became a bookseller and a trustee of the Boston Public Library, sent
150 volumes to Salisbury for sole use of children from nine to 16 years of
age. The books initially were housed in the minister's residence, and then
in the Town Hall., At a Town Meeting on April 8, 1810 it was voted that "the
Selectmen be authorized and directed to draw upon the town treasurer for the
sum of $100 payable in favor of the trustees of the Bingham Library for Ybuﬁq
to be laid out and expended for purchasing suitable books for such library." -
This action wes the first recorded commitment of public funds for library
support in the United States. Further public financial support on the part
of the Town of Salisbury was forthcoming in 1821, 1826 and 1836.

At the time of the dedication of the Scoville Memorial Library, George
W. Holly of Bridgeport wrote a letter dated July 8, 1825 stating his regrets
at not being able to attend, and taking the occasion, "as the only"survivin%l
native who in younger days drew books from the old Bingham Library" to reca
how the library was run. The books were kept in cupboards in the old Town
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Hall, he said, "and four times a year the library was opened, Interested
parties took their seats on wooden benches while the librarian called off
the books, beginning with the letter A. One hearing announced a book he
wanted called, 'I'll have it,' and the volume was laid aside to be entered
in a record book." = - '

Without question there were older libraries, The distinction claimed
by Salisbury relates to the matter of taxpayer support, and there is general
agreement that in this respect Salisbury was first. Strongest counter claim
comes from Peterborough, New Hampshire where in 1833 the town itself (not an.
individual) established a library that has been maintained by public taxation

. ever since, as contrasted to the Bingham Library which did not survive in its
original form. Norton cites four writers on library history, Dr, Herbert B.
Adams, Dr. Arthur E., Bostwick, Gwendolen Rees, and Joseph Kane;? in support
of the Salisbury position. In 1978 Robert C. Hilton, writing in the Library
Journal, endorsed the Salisbury claim, saying, "At Salisbury, Connecticut
the first known municipal library taxation came about in 1810 as a result of
the philanthropy of native son and Boston bookseller and publisher Caleb
Bingham, "%

In the latter half of the 19th century the Smith and Bingham libraries
in Salisbury languished. The books were boxed up and put in storage. The
Salisbury Library Associastion was formed in the 1880's, the old books, with
new titles added, were returned to the Town Hall, and a catalog published in
1889. This group and its books were merged into the Scoville Memorial Li~
brary a few years later. 79 titles froii- the Bingham Library are shelved
at the Scoville Memorial Library today, 14 of them from the original 150.

Jonathan Scoville observed the activities of the ladies' Salisbury Li-
brary Association in the 1880's and resolved to build a library building.
He implemented his resolve by testamentary gift of $12,000. Jonathan Scoville
(1830 or 18347-1891) was born on a farm in Salisbury where his father not
only farmed the land but also manufactured pig iron from an iron mine on the
farm, part of the substantial sctivity in iron mining and processing that
flourished in northwestern Connecticut in the 18th and 19th centuries. After
attending Harvard College where he concentrated on scientific studies,

- Jonathan Scoville became a salesman for his father of iron suitable for the
manufacture of railroad car wheels. In 1856 he visited Buffalo, New York
where he saw an opportunity, and in 1860 he established there the Buffalo
Car Wheel Works. He was soon joined by his brother, Nathaniel Church Scoville
and together they conducted a highly successful manufacturing operation which
they converted advantageously to a joint stock company several years before
they died. In the early 1880's Jonathan served three years in the United
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Stetes House of Representatives, and then succeeded Grover Cleveland for a
term as mayor of Buffalo. A bachelor, he was considered somewhat eccentric;

- he admired flowers and books, end was noted for his orchid greenhouses.

‘Nathaniel Church Scoville died on November 21, 1890, and Jonathan Scoville
five months later on March 4, 1891. During thelr lifetimes they owned all

their property in common, and upon thelg deaths their combined estates were
estimated at $8,000,000 to $10,000,000.

The family of Kathaniel Church Scoville matched the gift of Jonathan
Scoville for construction of the library, donated the clock and bells, in 189G
made possible the addition of the stacks tower, in 1902 endowed the library,
end continues sctive in its support to the present time. By the time of the
1895 dedication costs amounted to $22,818.13, (there was a cash balance on
hand) the chief item being $15,858.79, the amount paid to Newton Bartram,

a Sharon, Connecticut contractor who presumably furnished the stone from near-

by Lion's Head in Salisbury and did the masonry work.

The Scoville Memorial Library continues a library function in Salisbury
that dates back to 1771 and includes the important event of first taxpayer
support for a public library in this country. Its fine grey limestone build-
ing, created through the philanthropy of the Sceville family and the design
skill of Edmund R. Willson, continues in place with complete integrity. The
late-20th-century vitality of the Scoville Memorial Library Association is

demonstrated by the ambitious program now 1n hand to increase the library's
physical plant and service to the community.”

1. Cady, p. 187.
2. Norton, p. 8.
3. UHorton, p. 9.
4. Norton, p. 12.
5. Hilton, p. 1223.

6. Buffalo (New York) Commercial, March L, 1891.

7. Plens are now in hand to alter and enlarge the library as shown by
the "Development Program" page, sttached. The principal change will be & new
wing on the back, to be built of grey limestone walls and slate rcof as nearly
as possible indistinguishable from the materials used in the existing buila-
ing. On the interior of the south wing, the present dropped ceiling will be
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removed and the original ccved celling returned te view., A 1li-bulb, glass
and metal chandelier with three tiers of anthemion acroteria, found in the
attic, will again be hung from the coved ceiling. A climate-contrclled asrea
will be installed in the south end of this wing. The front entrance steps
will be replaced by a new arrangement of steps and a three-run ramp to pro-
vide access for the handicapped.
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SCOVILLE MEMORIAL LIBRARY
DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

Renovation and Expansion to Improve
and Modernize Services

. New Wing for Adult Services: combmes quiet reading area
(facing brook) wuth new stacks

@ Renovation for Special Collections: chmate-control[ed secure
facility, shared with Salisbury Association, for rare books
and valuable historical materials

. Remodeled Children’s Room: bright, cheerful activity area with
books within children’s reach

E] Centrahzed Staff Area: efficient work space and convenient
supervisory station

l;f?)or plan developed by Huygens and Tappe Inc. (Boston) and King Architects
(Avon}, from suggestions made by staff, Board members and Library users. See
complete designs on display in the Library. N

A PROUD TRADITION OF LIBRARY SERVICES

Library services have been available to residents of Saliskury since 1771
when Richard Smith had 200 books imported from his native England. In
1803 Caleb Bingham, a book-seller of Boston, donated 150 books for use by
children in his home town. An appropriation of public money for the
Bingham Library for Youth in 1810 made ‘this the earliest tax-supported
library in the United States The Salisbury Library Association. formed in
the 1880's, supervised operation of the book collections then housed in the
Town Hall.

Bequests by Jonathan Scoville and the Nathaniel Church Scoville family
made possible construction of the present building, dedicated July 11,
1895. This handsome structure now houses 38,000 bocoks for over 2,000
registered borrowers. On October 14, 1978, the National Citizens Emergen-
cy Committee to Save Qur Public Libraries presented the Scoviile
Memorial Library with a plaque commemorating the 175th anniversary of

the tounding of the Bingham Library for Youth as “The Nation’s First Public
Library )

The Board of Trustees shares with ali resndent< great pride in the library’s
itlustrious history it is also committed to the future with a long-range plan
for modernizing and improving the Library’s services to the community.

GOALFOR DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM: $573,000

We are half way toward reaching our goal. To implement a tull project, we

need your support. .

E] Re-designed Entrance: easier access for everyone

t W J:;;——»Jﬂ

')F.\J

Design for more convement entry to the library, with facade otherwise unchanged. Main
addition in rear. Lompiete pls .» by Huygens and Tappe can be seen in the library
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